
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/CDA - 3rd Tuesday/2022-10-18 CDA/2022-10-18CDA Agenda.docx 
10/17/2022 10:17 AM 
 

 

                          136 North Monroe Street  
Waterloo, WI  53594 

      Phone: (920) 478-3025 
      Fax: (920) 478-2021 

      www.waterloowi.us 

 
A MEETING OF THE WATERLOO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY - AGENDA 

 
Pursuant to Section 19.84 Wisconsin Statutes, notice is hereby given to the public and to the news media, that a public 
meeting will be held to consider the following: 
 
Date:  October 18, 2022 
Time:  6:00 p.m.  
Location: Municipal Building, 136 North Monroe Street (via remote phone conference for participants and public) 
 

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87638453552?pwd=czhkR2I5YUJmVzBVTHZ5TjFkNnQ3QT09 
Meeting ID: 876 3845 3552     Passcode: 831781 
Dial by phone    +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)      

   
 

1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & ROLL CALL 
 
2) MEETING MINUTES APPROVAL: September 20, 2022 
 
3) UPDATES & REPORTS 

a) Non-Metro Connections Update 
b) Clerk/Treasurer Report –  
c) Financial Reports Tax Incremental Finance Districts 2, 3 & 4, and Fund 600-September 
d) Blight Blue and White List 
e) Business Association Liaison Report, (contact undetermined) 
f) School District Liaison (contact undetermined)  

 
4) OLD BUSINESS 

a) Façade Grant 
 
5) NEW BUSINESS 

a) Brian Henning regarding the School Referendum 
b) ThriveED: The Road Ahead 
c) Vibrant Spaces Grant 
d) JECDC IGA Agreement 
e) TID #5 Creation Proposal 
f) SWOT 

 
 

6) CITIZEN INPUT, FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
a) Annual Calendar  

 
7) ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 
Jeanne Ritter, Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 
 
 
 
 
Community Development Authority: Soter, Petts, C. Kuhl, A. Kuhl, Woods, O’Connell, Sharpe and School District Superintendent Brian Henning 
as non-voting School District liaison  Posted, Mailed and E-mailed: 9/19/2022  

 
Please note: it is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may attend the above meeting(s) to 
gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body other than that specifically noticed. Also, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to 
accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information or to request such services please contact the clerk’s 
office at the above location. 

http://www.waterloowi.us/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87638453552?pwd=czhkR2I5YUJmVzBVTHZ5TjFkNnQ3QT09


Page 1 of 1  
HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/FILESHARES/DATA/COMMON/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-09-20 cda/2022-09-20 cdaminutes.docx 
9/27/2022 11:50 AM 

WATERLOO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY -- MEETING MINUTES: September 20, 2022 
Digital audio files are archived with these written minutes additionally serving as the official record.  

 
1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL AND CALL TO ORDER. CDA Vice-Chair A. Kuhl called the meeting to 

order at 6:03 p.m. Members present: C. Kuhl, A. Kuhl, Woods.  Remote:Soter Absent: Sharpe, Petts, and the non-
voting member from School District and Business Association.  Others in Attendance or remote: Everett Butzine, and 
Clerk Ritter. 

 
2. MEETING MINUTES APPROVAL: August 16, 2022. MOTION: [C. Kuhl/Woods] to approve the minutes as listed and 

presented. VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
 

3. UPDATES & REPORTS.  
a. Non-Metro Connections  - included in packet.     Discussion on creating a TID 5 Overlay district.  333 

Portland Rd.  Snyder is not returning calls to Everett.  Still working on Dempsey property.  Waiting on TID 
information before moving ahead.   Looking to connect to Glacial Drumlin bike path.   

b. Clerk/Treasurer Report. Grant was approved from Greater Watertown Foundation.      
c. Financial Reports Tax Incremental Finance Districts 2, 3 & 4, and Fund 600. Charlie gave update. Possible 

new renter for upstairs of Manuesha Business Center. 
d. Business Association Liaison Report. none 
e. School District Liaison. Michelle Soter announced Brian Henning would like to attend next CDA Meeting 

regarding School Referendum.   
 

4. OLD BUSINESS 
 

5. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Façade Grant.  Tabled until next meeting.  M. Soter will look over and start making corrections/changes.  [C. 

Kuhl/Woods]VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried.     
 

6. CITIZEN INPUT, FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS  Calendar shows SWOT analysis for next 
month  
 

7. ADJOURNMENT. MOTION: [C. Kuhl/Woods] VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried. Time: 7:00 pm. 
 
 

Attest: 
 
Jeanne Ritter 
Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 



Street Property # Open Date Owner of Property

Who 

Complained/follow 

up with Desired Outcome Link to Ordinance Notes Action

Who is 

following up

NMC Time 

spent 

Anna Street 307 Oct-22 Mark Schultz DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Anna Street 867 Oct-22 Kera Casto DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Anna Street 902 Oct-22 Benito Mena DPW/PD Junk Vehicle PD

Bluegrass Trail 1055 Oct-22 Bruce Senti DPW/PD Trailers in driveway PD

Bluegrass Trail 1120 Oct-22 Patrick Edge DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Boorman St

237 Oct-21 Candice Brussveen Removal of blight Storage of 

unlicensed 

recreational vehicle 

and weed 

ordinance

Unspecified non-compliance. Item on 

Building Inspectors list for fall follow-up 

2/22/2022not verified or have inspected 

year to date.  No inspection

SB

Bradford Dr 330 Oct-22 Paul Thomas DPW/PD Boat PD

Bradford Dr 425 Oct-22 Christopher Roth DPW/PD Trailers PD

Bradford Dr 420 Oct-22 James Kuhlow DPW/PD Trees DPW

Bradford Dr 457 Oct-22
Karmen Westerveld-

Opsteen DPW/PD Trailer PD

Bradford Drive 425 Sep-22 Christopher Roth Removal of blight 261-6 Truck trailer and clean up yard PD

Chestnut St 1214 Oct-22 Tou Lor DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Cleveland St 527 Oct-22 Robert Gingles DPW/PD Unregistered Vehicles PD

Commerical Ave.

700 Sep-22 AB&E

Numerous complaints

Smells 261-3 Public 

nuisance affecting 

health

SB, PD

Crestview 565 Oct-22 565 Crestview LLC DPW/PD Junk PD

Derby? 1427 Oct-22 DPW/PD Unregistered Vehicle PD

E Madison St

501 9/1/2022 

10/2022

Jeremy Uttech Removal of blight 219-5 Trash and junk in backyard PD

E Madison St.

362 1/1/2015 -

Sept 2022-

Oct 2022

Jeremy Uttech Property owner 

maintaining clean property; 

no dangerous work garage

§219-5 Safe and 

sanitary 

maintenance of 

property

Pending action (C.B. verbal) Continue to 

watch. A residential property formerly 

zoned commercial; owner has a history of 

storing scrap on site and selling items on 

lawn. Repeated combustion incidents in 

garage.  2/22/2022 Cert and regular mail 

sent 2/10/22 regarding violations of wood 

pile in front yard, metal scrapping zoning 

violation. Cert. Mail received 2/11/22.  15 

days to comply with zoning. October 2022-

Junk in driveway

SB/PD

E Madison Street

469 Dec-21 Esmeralda Aguero Removal of blight Blight complaint from neighbor routed to 

Police Department and Building Inspector. 

2/22/2022certified mail sent 2/10/22 and 

signed for.  Have inspection scheduled on 

3/4 to gain access to rear and verify 

violations.

SB/PD

E Polk St 133 Oct-22 James Scott DPW/PD RV in road PD

Edison St 244 Oct-22 Daniel Tecalero DPW/PD Unregistered vehicle PD

Edison St 443 Oct-22 Robert Wollin DPW/PD Unregistered vehicle PD

Goehl 264 Oct-22 Bradley Smith DPW/PD Unregistered Vehicle PD

Goehl 274 Oct-22 Charles Wallace DPW/PD Boat in driveway PD

Grove St 140 Oct-22 RJB Rentals LLC DPW/PD Junk/Unregistered vehicle PD



Street Property # Open Date Owner of Property

Who 

Complained/follow Desired Outcome Link to Ordinance Notes Action

Who is 

following up

NMC Time 

spent 

Harrison St

597 Sep-22 John Cotting Removal of blight 261-6 Bus in driveway PD

Harrison St 404 Oct-22 Tony Packard DPW/PD Unregistered vehicle PD

Harrison St 597 Oct-22 John Cotting DPW/PD Bus in driveway PD

Heil St 1190 Oct-22 John Holzhueter DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Hendricks 200 Oct-22 Robert Gingles DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Herron Dr 860 Oct-22 Rick Nahrstadt DPW/PD RV PD

Hiawatha 840 Oct-22 Andrea Lendborg DPW/PD Unregistered vehicle/trees PD/DPW

Indian Hills 504 Sep-22 Mary Mikalson Removal of blight 261-6 Pontoon (boat) in driveway PD

Indian Hills

430 Sep-22 David Edwards Removal of blight 261-6 Trailer w/ golf cart and camper on street PD

Indian Hills 605 Oct-22

Matthew 

Rennebohm DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Indian Hills 504 Oct-22 Mary Mikalson DPW/PD Boat PD

Indian Hills 411 Oct-22 Lewis Lewellin DPW/PD RV PD

Indian Hills 403 Oct-22 Ronald Klug DPW/PD Trailer PD

Jackson St 359 Oct-22 Tom Esslinger DPW/PD Junk PD

Jamie Road 1018 Oct-22 Raymond Walsh DPW/PD RV in the road PD

Jaystone 1080 Oct-22 Richard Stone DPW/PD Junk in driveway PD

Jaystone Street 940 Oct-22 Wally Ritter DPW/PD Boat in driveway PD

Jaystone Terr

1085 Sep-19 KSA Waterloo LLC; 

Ben Waterloo LLCLS 

DR

Resident complaint: entry 

threshold prevents wheel 

chairs and dryer vent may 

be fire hazarded; 9/3 

Routed to Chris B to inspect

§ 219-5 Safe and 

sanitary 

maintenance of 

property

C.B. has made contact.  No reply from 

owner.  02/22/2022 no follow up

SB

Jefferson St 135 Oct-22 Corey Besl DPW/PD Boat in driveway PD

Jefferson St 144 Oct-22 Patricia Schickert DPW/PD Junk/Unregistered vehicle PD

Jefferson St.

254 Sep-22 McKay Nursary

Numerous complaints

Building unmaintained,fix 

or removal.

140-15 Building is falling in and infested with 

rodents. 

Pictures taken, BI 

talked with owner, 

They are currently 

working on this 

project, will take a 

while

SB

Jefferson St. 254 Oct-22 McKay Nursary DPW/PD SB

Jills Ct 1015 Oct-22 Patrick Brown DPW/PD Weeds DPW

Knowlton

334

Oct-22

Ami & Bradley Bauer

Mayor

Removal of blight

219-5

Awning falling down

Knowlton 340 Oct-22 Arnulfo De La Cruz Mayor Lawn DPW

Knowlton St

580 Sep-21 Waterloo 

Apartments LLC

(1) Structural damage to 

front rear of building needs 

correcting; (2) Garbage 

around dumpsters requires 

cleanup

219-5(B)(3) and 

219-5B(7)(b) Safe & 

Sanitary 

Maintenance of 

Property 

Notice sent to Waterloo Apartment LLC 

9/30 with CC to PD, CT & Donnie Rook with 

30 days notice 2/22/2022verbal compliant 

by tenant who complained that all site 

violations were in compliance.  Have not 

verified compliance.

SB

Knowlton St 530 Oct-22 Bryon Bergeron DPW/PD Junk PD

Knowlton St 334 Oct-22 Bradley Bauer DPW/PD House needs repairs PD

Knowlton St #204

590  APT 

#204

Sep-21 Waterloo 

Apartments LLC

Properly maintained 

exterior property areas, 

foundation, floor & roof

Muni Code 219--

5b(3) and 219-

5b(7)(b)

CB letter to property owner 9/30/2021 SB

Knowlton St.

520 Sep-22 Tim and Jennifer 

Marek

Removal of dead tree 261-3 Public 

nuisance affecting 

health

Dead tree in yard is a hazard to public and 

property owner. Falling on sidewalk and 

road.

DPW/PD

https://ecode360.com/32168789
https://ecode360.com/32168789
https://ecode360.com/32168789


Street Property # Open Date Owner of Property

Who 

Complained/follow 

up with Desired Outcome Link to Ordinance Notes Action

Who is 

following up

NMC Time 

spent 

Lum Ave

920 Sep-22 Kenneth Frandel Removal of Junk Property 

and inoperable vehicles

261-6 Two citations issued. Two citations issued PD

Lum Ave 920 Oct-22 Kenneth Frandel DPW/PD Junk PD

Lum Ave 1030 Oct-22 Matthew Ruechel DPW/PD Business PD

Lum Avenue 717 Oct-22

Beyer Family 

Enterprises DPW/PD RV in the driveway PD

Lum Avenue 816 Oct-22 John Reeve DPW/PD Trailer in front yard PD

Main St 1208 Oct-22 D Port Properties LLC DPW/PD Junk Cars PD

Maple Street 207 Oct-22 Craig Setz DPW/PD Trailer in road PD

Minnehaha 414 Oct-22 James Reynolds DPW/PD RV in driveway PD

Minnetonka 218 Oct-22 David Arians DPW/PD Trailer in front yard PD

N Monroe 508 Oct-22 Benjamin Fruend DPW/PD Removal of blight 219-5 Junk behind the garage PD

N Monroe St

129 Jan-16 Keri Sellnow Complete 1st floor build-

out to code per conditional 

use

§140-19 Violations 

and penalties

20/25/21 remains in non-compliance. 

Owner in violation C.B. 2021 QTR 1 

communication. Owner granted 

conditional use to reside on a portion of 

1st floor; has not complied with building 

code with shared commercial & residential 

floor.  2/22/2022Visual verification of 

bottom floor occupant has moved out.  I 

have not been inside to verify.

Owner sold building 

"Kari Sellnow"

SB

Oak St 1332 Oct-22 Lorna Bredehorn DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Pierce St 707 Oct-22 DPW/PD Junk PD

Porter St 130 Oct-22 Jay Killary DPW/PD RV PD

PORTLAND RD

208 May-20 GORDON D YELK & 

DEBRA A YELK 

Remedy collapses garage. 

No blighting conditions 

§ 219-5 Safe and 

sanitary 

maintenance of 

property

10/25/21 Reinspected and confirmed 

violations, 10/1 sent certified letter; 10/21 

cert. letter received, will reinspect in 30 

days 2/22/2022: all exterior is compliant.  

Building is NOT compliant at this time.  

Verbal with owner as to razing west half of 

building this year?

 owner sold property 

but garbage has not 

been removed. 

Collapsed garage has 

been removed.

SB?

Portland Rd 230 Oct-22 James Steindorf DPW/PD Junk Vehicles PD

Portland Rd 208 Oct-22 Gordon Yelk DPW/PD Junk PD

S Jackson St

408 Oct-21 Joseph Archie ? Unspecified non-compliance. Item on 

Building Inspectors list for fall follow-up

SB

S Jackson St 270 Oct-22 Tired Iron Buyer LLC DPW/PD Holes in building

S MONROE ST

261 Jun-20 ANDREW V 

GRUNEWALD

No blighting conditions § 219-5 Safe and 

sanitary 

maintenance of 

property

10/20/21 reinspected & verified violations, 

10/21/21 letter sent certified to owner. 

Waiting on cert. mail receipt to start the 30 

days after receipt

S. Jackson St

275 Jun-17 Tired Iron Buyer LLC Property owner investment 

in warehouse repairs after 

sale of property from City 

to property owners and no 

blight

§219-5 Safe and 

sanitary 

maintenance of 

property

2019-08-28 New construction results in 

resolution. Terminus of Beech Rd (private 

property) collects storm water from street 

leading to ponding of stagnant water



Street Property # Open Date Owner of Property

Who 

Complained/follow 

up with Desired Outcome Link to Ordinance Notes Action

Who is 

following up

NMC Time 

spent 

S. Jackson St.

595 Sep-22 Shyla Davis Removal of dead tree 261-3 Public 

nuisance affecting 

health

Dead tree in yard is a hazard to public and 

property owner. Falling on sidewalk and 

road.

DPW/PD

Streator 360 Oct-22 Denny Cunningham DPW/PD Tree DPW

Streator 210 Oct-22 John Eggert DPW/PD Boat PD

Sunrise Ct 975 Oct-22 Grant Fulford DPW/PD Trailer in driveway PD

Sunrise Ct 921 Oct-22 Kyle Kling DPW/PD Junk PD

Taylor St 450 Oct-22 Michael Pranke DPW/PD Junk/boat PD

Taylor St 339 Oct-22

Battenberg 

Properties DPW/PD Unregistered vehicles/Junk PD

Van Buren 576 Oct-22 Terry Sauer DPW/PD RV in yard PD

W Madison St 213 Oct-22
P Hart Family Limited 

Partnership DPW/PD Junk PD

W Madison St 662 Oct-22 Chad Decaluwe DPW/PD Business

W Madison St 688 Oct-22 Wallymart LLP DPW/PD Old Gas station

W Polk St

435 Oct-21 Molly King ? Unspecified non-compliance. Item on 

Building Inspectors list for fall follow-up

SB

W Polk St 366 Oct-22 Teri Kovacs DPW/PD Unregistered vehicle PD

Washington 306 Oct-22 Jeffery Grotjahn DPW/PD Outbuilding falling down

Washington 516 Oct-22 James Marshall DPW/PD Junk PD

Washington St Oct-22 Mayor Removal of blight 219-5 Barn

West Madison St

213 Jan-16 Bill Hart Use in compliance with 

zoning code

§385-12 C-1 

General 

Commercial District

J.Q. to address. Use changed from printing 

to warehousing, no conditional use granted 

therefore an illegal use

Sent to certified 

letters 8.30.2022 & 

9.14.2022

City Hall/NMC

22-Sep Brian Walters Mayor Removal of blight Awning falling down Mayor



HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx 
 Page 1 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 
 

 

 

DOWNTOWN FACADE & COMMERCIAL INTERIOR BUILD-OUT  

GRANT PROGRAMS 

 

 

Revised/Updated March 8, 2017 

 

SUMMARY 

This is a matching grant program for eligible property improvement projects.  Matching grants are available to fund 50% of eligible 

project costs up to $5,000 per project.  The minimum total project size to be considered for a matching grant is $1,000 (for a 

matching award of up to $500). 

 

 

 



HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx 
 Page 2 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 
 

Downtown Facade & Commercial Interior Build-Out Grant Programs 

Who Is Eligible? Property owners and current or prospective tenants located within Tax Increment District #2.  Awards 

may be made no more frequently than every 36 months to an applicant, with a lifetime grant cap of $15,000 from the 

program’s inception for each applicant. 

The Opportunity. This program offers a matching grant for eligible property improvement projects. Matching grants are 

available to fund 50% of eligible project costs up to $5,000 per application. The minimum total project size to be 

considered for a matching grant is $1,000 (for up to $500 match).  Total annual municipal award expenditures shall not 

exceed $25,000. 

How to Apply. Complete and return the application form to the Clerk/Treasurer’s office during regular business hours.  

Applicants are encouraged to discuss the project with City staff prior to submission. 

The Program’s Future is Not Guaranteed.  The annual municipal budgeting process will determine the lifespan of 

these programs.  Future rounds of funding will be available on an annual basis as funds become available. 

Eligible Project Area. Parcels located inside the TIF #2 boundaries illustrated on the map. 

 

 

 



HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx 
 Page 3 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 
 

General Program Guidelines: 

• Property owner or tenant must apply for funds to be used within the Tax Increment District # 2. 

• Applicant must be located in a building which contributes to Waterloo’s property tax base. 

• Projects that have already begun construction or which were completed in the past are not eligible to apply for 

funds.  

• Applicant must be current on all mortgage, tax and utility payments, and tenant applicants must be current in 

lease payments to the property owner. Prospective businesses interested in opening in Waterloo are eligible 

to apply with approval from landlord and with a signed lease agreement in place (lease may be contingent 

upon project funding). 

• Property owners may apply for both façade and tenant improvement program funds under separate 

applications and a tenant may apply for improvement funds even if the landlord has also applied for 

façade improvements. Each project will be judged on its own merits and no preference or penalty will be 

given for multiple projects. 

• Eligible project costs include both hard costs (construction) as well as soft costs (design and 

engineering). However, the majority of total project cost should be hard costs. 

• Preference will be given to projects which will leverage the most private investment for each dollar of 

public funds and provide the greatest public benefit. 

• Work must be completed according to the approved plan within 120 days of approval of the grant unless a 

specific exemption is granted. Any changes to the work plan must be approved by the City in advance. Failure 

to do so may result forfeiture of grant money. 

• Once the project is complete, applicant will notify the City, which will review final work to ensure that the 

results are comparable to the initial proposal. The building inspector will also review the property for code 

violations associated with the project area (i.e. in first floor space for a tenant improvement grant, or on the 

exterior of the building for a façade grant). Any identified violations must be corrected prior to project 

approval. Only after a project is inspected and approved will grant funds will be released to the applicant. 

Facade Improvement - Program Guidelines: 

• Planned improvement must be compatible with historic zoning overlay district standards where applicable. 

Improvements should make an effort to preserve or restore the historic character of the building. 

• Eligible projects include: 

o Window and door repairs/replacement 

o Brick tuck pointing or masonry repair 

o Storefront rehabilitation 

o Signage, shutters or awnings 

o Painting or siding, brick cleaning 

o Correction of exterior code violations 

o Exterior repairs (on façade only) 

o Energy efficiency upgrades 

• Non-eligible costs include non-façade related improvements such as roof repair, rear or side wall 

improvements (unless a corner property), landscaping, paving or other property related improvements not 

associated with the façade of the building. 



 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx
 Page 4 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 

Commercial Interior Build-Out - Program Guidelines: 

• Eligible improvements include the following activities, as applies to the commercial storefront portion of 

the property. 

o Hazardous materials abatement, such as asbestos removal 

o Demolition and shell reconstruction 

o Plumbing, mechanical, electrical, cabling and HVAC improvements 

o New restaurant equipment (i.e. hoods, vents, etc.) 

o Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Compliance 

o Storefront Improvements 

o Historic restoration of interior features 

• Non-eligible costs include non-permanent fixtures such as security systems, merchandise or display items, 

furniture or interior décor items. Costs associated with improvements to upper floors or basements are 

not eligible. 

How to apply: 

• Applicant must submit a complete application packet by the deadline. A complete application includes 

the following: 

o Application form, 

o Planned project renderings (including colors and materials), 

o Photos of the existing façade/space which demonstrate the need for improvements, 

o Project cost estimate by a qualified, licensed contractor, 

o Applications for tenant improvement upgrades must also include signed lease agreement, and if 

application is submitted by tenant, a written letter of permission from the property owner 

approving the project. 

• Complete applications will be considered and evaluated according to a set of weighted criteria. Based on 

available funding, grants will be awarded to qualified projects based on anticipated project impact. 

• Applicants will be notified of grant awards in writing. The City reserves the right to offer a lesser dollar 

amount than requested if the amount of eligible projects exceeds allocated funding. Grant offers may also be 

made contingent on adjustments to proposed plan of work to better meet City goals and objectives. 

Applicants must accept or reject the grant funds in writing within 30 days of award. 

• Projects must obtain all required building permits and follow all City, State and Federal regulations in regard to 

construction activities. 

• Applicant must submit receipts upon completion of work, and work must be reviewed to ensure project reflects 

application materials. Following project approval, building inspection (if required) and submission of all 

applicable receipts, grant funds will be released to applicant. 

• Participant shall display a sign (provided by the City) indicating participation in the program, either on the 

exterior or in the front window of the property during improvements and for a 30-day period following 

project completion. 

 

 

 



 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx
 Page 5 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 

 

APPLICATION 

Downtown Facade & Commercial Interior Build-Out Grant Programs 

Prior to submitting this application, please review the complete program guidelines regarding eligible projects and grant amounts. 

Contact the City of Waterloo at 920-478-3025 with questions or for additional clarification prior to submitting a project application. 

Incomplete applications will not be considered for funding. Completed applications should be submitted to City of Waterloo, 136 N 

Monroe St, Waterloo, WI 53595  

 

Date: _______________  

Applicant Name: ______________________  

Applicant is: (circle one): Property Owner       Business Tenant 

Applicant mailing address: ___________________________________________  

Daytime Phone: ______________________  

Email Address: _______________________  

Address of property for proposed improvement: ___________________________  

Property owner (if different than applicant): ________________________________  

Anticipated total project cost: __________________________  

Grant request amount: _______________________________  

Describe project: (attach an additional sheet if necessary) 

Start date: 

 

 

 

Thank you for submitting your project for consideration. Don't forget to attach the following to this application before 

submitting: 

• Photos of existing building/space to be improved. 

• Project renderings, including materials and colors to be used 

• Project estimates provided by qualified, licensed contractor 

• Lease document (for tenant improvement projects) 

• Project approval from landlord (if applicant is a business) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx
 Page 6 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 

 

 

Downtown Facade & Commercial Interior Build-Out Grant Programs 

GRANT ACCEPTANCE FORM 
 

KEEP TOP PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS -- RETURN BOTTOM PORTION TO: 
CITY OF WATERLOO FAÇADE/TENANT IMPROVEMENT GRANT 
136 NORTH MONROE STREET, WATERLOO, WI  53594-1198 

920-478-3025 
PROGRAM GUIDELINES AND REQUIREMENTS 

Guidelines and requirements must be met.  Failure to do so may result in forfeiture of grant money. 

● Applicant must accept or reject the grant funds within 30 days of award.  Failure to reply will result in a loss of the 

grant award. 

● Projects must obtain all required building permits and follow all City, State and Federal regulations in regard to 

construction activities. 

● Applicant must be current on all mortgage, tax and utility payments. Tenants must be current in lease payments to the 

property owner.    

● Eligible project costs include both hard costs (construction) as well as soft costs (design and engineering).  However, 

the majority of total project cost should be hard costs. 

● Work must be completed according to the approved plan within 120 days of approval of the grant unless a specific 

exemption is granted.  Any changes to the work plan as documented in the application must be approved by the City in 

advance.   

● Applicant must execute all items listed on the checklist provided with the award notice. 

● Applicant agrees that final work will be inspected to ensure that the results are comparable to the initial proposal.  

The building inspector will also review the property for code violations associated with the project area.  Applicant 

agrees to correct identified building code violations prior to the release of grant funds. 

● Participant shall display a sign (provided by the City) indicating participation in the program, either on the exterior or 

in the front window of the property during improvements and for a 30-day period following project completion. 

►►►►►►► Clip Here & Mail Or Deliver To Clerk/Treasurer’s Office ◄◄◄◄◄◄◄ 

Downtown Facade & Commercial Interior Build-Out Grant Programs (return slip) 

I have read the program guidelines and requirements and agree to the terms and conditions as stated. 

Printed Name: ___________________________________________ 

Signed:  ________________________________________________ 

Dated: _________________________ 

Project ID(s) _____________________________________________ 



 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/fileshares/data/common/agendas_ minutes/2022/cda - 3rd tuesday/2022-10-18 cda/draftfacadetenantpackage.docx
 Page 7 of 7  
10/14/2022 9:39 AM 

Downtown Facade & Commercial Interior Build-Out Grant Programs 

APPLICANT CHECK LIST 
 

Submit project information to: 
CITY OF WATERLOO  

FAÇADE/TENANT IMPROVEMENT GRANT 
136 NORTH MONROE STREET 
WATERLOO, WI  53594-1198 

920-478-3025 

 

□  1. Grant award notice received/reviewed.  Project completion deadline is:  ___________________. 

 

□  2. Complete and return grant acceptance form. 
 

□  3. Real estate and/or personal property taxes confirmed as not being delinquent. 

 

□  4.  All necessary permits are applied for and received through the City of Waterloo Building  
Inspection office.  Painting, repairs and maintenance do not require permits.  Call 608-576-6371 to  
determine if your project requires a permit. 

 

□  5.  Prominently display the 11 x 17 inch project poster. 
 

□  6. Upon completion of work and after final payment to all project contractors is completed, 
all paid-in-full invoices from contractors who completed grant eligible work are submitted.  The  
payee must document that payment has been received in full.    
 

□  7. Upon completion of work, all direct purchase receipts pertaining to completed work are submitted. 

 

□  8. Before and after pictures submitted. 
 

□  9. Final walk through with municipal staff scheduled (call 920-478-3025). 
 

□  10. The grant award will be mailed after the project is completed and all documentation is 
accounted for. 

 







































Introducing the Vibrant Spaces Grant

September 23, 2022



Today’s Goals

Placemaking Intro

Vibrant Spaces Grant Basics

The Fine Print/Q&A



What is Placemaking? 
• Creating places where people want to be 

• Designing public space to promote health, happiness and well-being

• Encouraging engagement and interaction

• Capitalizes on local assets, inspirations and potential  - defined by those who live, 
work and play in those spaces. 



Why Placemaking
• Support the local economy. Visitors that stay longer spend more. 

• Downtowns/small scale commercial districts are often the largest economic engine in the community.

• Downtown residents spend 200% more at walking distance businesses. 

• The average downtown household spends $9,000/year in local goods/services.

• Filled upper units allow landlords to accept higher risk 
(i.e. local, retail, restaurant) tenants on the ground floor.

• Wisconsin average downtown market share:

Land 
Area

Property 
Value

Hotel 
Rooms

Businesses Restaurant 
Spending

Retail 
Spending

Residential 
Units

2% 6% 27% 16% 21% 14% 12%



Why Placemaking
• Engage residents in the community. Those that feel belonging are more likely to contribute. 

• Vacant and underutilized properties detract from prosperity

• Average traditional downtown building (1 storefront, 2 apartments) left vacant results in $76,000 in lost 
economic activity annually

• Average property values for chronically vacant properties 200% less than same property with tenants. 

• Encourage healthier lifestyles, more walking/biking, outdoor activity. 

• More activity = safer streets. 



Places vs Spaces
• What is the difference? 

Space: 
• Large, possibly global
• May not be directly perceived
• Few or no limits
• Setting that provides room for creating, 

for interacting – the potential for 
relationship and for the development of 
story

Place:
• Small, local
• Defined limits
• Specific storied context – where 

something significant has happened 
or is happening

• Shared meaning, collective 
memories

The Spectrum of Place

What qualities make each of these places unique?



NOT Placemaking
• Sidewalks where no one wants to walk



NOT Placemaking
• Benches where no one wants to sit



Placemaking
• The Art & Science of Creating Places where people want to be. 

• A good place: 
• Is Useful
• Feels Good to Occupy
• Is Adaptable/Flexible
• Has Shared Ownership
• Attracts Diverse Users
• Authentic

• Consider:
• Places to sit & stand
• Food & drink
• Shelter
• Light
• Art & music
• Fire & water



Rules of Placemaking
• Meet the user’s needs

• Involve the users in creating/changing the space

• Give users some control over their environment

• The process is more important than the end-products

• We don’t have to (and shouldn’t) know the answer before we start

• Incremental approaches are best

• What audiences or experiences aren’t being served currently? Who is missing? What would 
people like to do?  



Physical 
Improvements

Activities,
Uses & Events

Stewardship 
& Management

Capacity

A Balancing Act



Space Utilization



Designing a Project
• Underutilized spaces can have seasonal limitations too – extending vitality into 

shoulder seasons is a great goal. 



Economic Opportunity

Better Block 
Project



Measuring Results

• Assess the place

• Who is in it? How many people? Who is missing? 

• How do they get there? What are they doing? Not doing?

• Survey users / potential users – what would they like to do? 

• Identify a small test project. Collect Results. 
(and take pictures) 

• How many people showed up? How long did they stay? What did they do? 

• Survey users – what do they like, what would they like? 

• Think bigger. Test. Repeat. 

Iteration

Experimentation
Adaptation



Vibrant Spaces Grant Basics

• Grants of $25,000-$50,000
• 1:1 match required
• Application deadline: January 31st

• Local government applicants only
• One application per community (does not 

impact traditional CDI eligibility)
• Competitive grant – up to 30 awards will be 

made
• Award announcements in May 2023



What Makes a Good Project

• Transforms a single space by adding multiple 
elements/accommodating multiple uses

• Demonstrated community 
involvement/engagement in planning and 
implementation process

• Increases the number of users and activities 
in the space, ideally year-round

• Creates a visible transformation that benefits 
the district and community

• Can begin construction during 2023



Identifying Projects

• What spaces are vacant or underutilized in your 
downtown/highly visible location? 

• Alleys, Pocket Parks, 
Gaps in Building fronts, Parking Lots

• Projects identified in existing 
district/community plans

• Spaces walkable to (an visible within) 
commercial districts

• Spaces with the potential to accommodate 
variety of uses and programming



Scoring Criteria – 10 points each
• Creation of visible and pedestrian-oriented 

public space
• Potential of the space to attract multiple user 

groups and activities
• Impact of the project on the community, district 

and nearby businesses
• Demonstrated community support for the 

project (multiple funding partners, civic 
organization participation, 
partnerships/collaboration)

• Budget and match funding preparedness 
(detailed budgets and identified/secured sources 
of funding)



Timeline

• Space planning & budgeting
• Formal applications released
• Initial application submitted
• Clarifications & revisions period
• Competitive review committee
• Awards announced 

APPLICATION 
RELEASED

November 15

APPLICATIONS 
DUE

January 31

APPLICATIONS 
REVIEWED AND 

SCORED
Feb. 1 - March  9

AWARD 
ANNOUNCEMENT

May 1



Application Requirements
• Receive an application through a Regional Economic Development Director

wedc.org/inside-wedc/contact-us/#regional
• Applications submitted via Network Wisconsin
• Application information required: 

• Photos of current space
• Utilization and limitations of current space
• Demonstrate existing planning/partner support for project
• Budgeted improvements for space (quotes, pricing list)
• Revenue sources (including source & amount secured)
• Site plans/schematics of future design
• Project implementation plan – partnerships, stakeholders
• Project narrative – what are the goals of the revitalized space? How will it 

positively impact the district and community? 



Eligible & Ineligible Expenses
Eligible:
• Public Space Improvements

• Site prep
• Public Space Enhancements

• Public art, landscaping, 
benches, bike racks

• Public Infrastructure
• Restrooms, water features, 

electrical, lighting
• Seasonal Equipment – reusable

• Tables, Chairs, Umbrellas, 
Heaters

Ineligible
• Past costs
• Site purchase
• In-kind contributions
• Soft costs
• Building improvements (other than 

restrooms)
• District- or community-wide 

improvements (i.e. streetscape for 
entire street)

• Events, staffing, programming or 
maintenance

• Private spaces not accessible to the 
public

• Activities eligible for other WEDC 
programs



Post-Award Information
• Contracts will require:

• Start of project in 2023 (project starts at date of application acceptance)
• WEDC logo on project signage
• Reimbursable grant – 2 draw requests
• Final performance report due December 2024
• Required information: 

• Photos of completed project
• Narrative of project outcomes – utilization, programming/events held, 

impact on nearby businesses/district



Questions?

FAQs document to be created and 
distributed to webinar participants and 
posted on WEDC’s website: 
www.wedc.org/vibrant-spaces



Want an application? 

• Contact your Regional Economic Development 
Director 

wedc.org/inside-wedc/contact-us/#regional



Placemaking is a process
• Focus on creating great things, NOT addressing 

problems. 

• We shouldn’t know the answer before we start.

• Survey your space: What works, what doesn’t, who 
is missing? 

• What would your audience like to do? What 
experiences are missing in the community? 



Designing a Project
• What space is underutilized? Why?
• What is an $100 strategy? 
• What is an $1,000 strategy? 
• $10,000 strategy? 



Designing a Project

1
2

3



Beware Pitfalls

• Copying someone else’s installation isn’t necessarily (or usually) productive. If it 
isn’t authentic to your community, it won’t work. 

• People are accustomed to permanence and inertia. Temporary installations don’t 
always make sense – people want to just decide and be done. 

• How we view and experience spaces/places are personal and based on 
experiences. This is one reason that community engagement is vital. Historical 
context also influences perceptions. Physical context changes. 

• Whimsy is not always understood. Art is in the eye of the beholder. 

• Plan ahead. The first time it will take TIME. Build from small successes. 











INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
CONTINUING THE 

JEFFERSON COUNTY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CONSORTIUM 
 

Revised 09-22-2022 

 
ARTICLE I. PURPOSE 

The purpose of the Jefferson County Economic Development Consortium (JCEDC) is to foster and 
encourage responsible community and economic development activities that result in job creation, 
retention, increased tax base and an improved sustainability and quality of life for the citizens of 
Jefferson County. The JCEDC will work closely with ThriveED and other mission driven entities to develop 
prosperous communities within the greater Jefferson County Region. 

 
The Glacial Heritage Development Partnership d/b/a ThriveED is a 501(c)(3) public/private partnership 
to support community and economic development activities in the region. 

 
ARTICLE II.  STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

The JCEDC shall be a public intergovernmental enterprise organized under the authority of § 66.0301, 
Wis. Stats., and as the same may be amended from time to time. 

 
ARTICLE III. MEMBERSHIP 

The JCEDC shall be composed of the towns, villages, cities and county governments of Jefferson County, 
Wisconsin (municipalities) that choose to adopt this agreement and thereby enter into membership. The 
current membership consists of Jefferson County, the cities of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson, Lake Mills, 
Waterloo, Watertown, and Whitewater and the Villages of Johnson Creek, Cambridge, and Palmyra. 
Other municipalities may be added to the membership upon agreement to the terms and conditions of 
the intergovernmental agreement. Quasi-governmental bodies such Redevelopment Authorities and 
Housing Authorities may also affiliate with the organization. 

 
ARTICLE IV. JCEDC BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

4.1 The Board of Directors (JCEDC Board) shall provide the overall policy direction of the JCEDC. 
This will include but is not limited to budget development, strategic plan, annual plan of work 
and performance metrics. The development and oversight of the strategic plan, plan of work 
and metrics will be coordinated and aligned with ThriveED. 

4.2 The Board’s membership shall be determined by reference to Section 4.4. The Board shall 
consist of three Jefferson County representatives and one member appointed by each 
participating municipality. 

 
4.3 The terms of the JCEDC Board members shall begin on May 1 of each year. 

4.4 Members of the JCEDC Board shall be appointed as follows: 
a. The three Jefferson County representatives shall be appointed by the County Board 

chairperson and confirmed by majority vote of the County Board in accordance with the 
Jefferson County Board Rules. 



 

b. Each member municipality shall appoint one representative by their governing body. Note: 
The JCEDC Board members are appointed by the municipalities or the county they 
represent, the JCEDC Board cannot determine this. Official appointments will be on file 
with the JCEDC office from the appointing authority. The municipality may appoint an 
alternative appointment to serve if the primary appointee is not available. 

4.5 The JCEDC Board may invite various organizations and/or individuals from professional areas to 
join as advisory, non-voting members. 

4.6 The JCEDC Board may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the total JCEDC Board, create such 
committees for such purposes and with such authority as the resolution may provide, and 
appoint such members of the JCEDC Board or others to serve on said committees. 

4.7 The JCEDC Board will have the same roles, responsibilities and rights as other County 
Committees to include recommending legislation to the County Board. 

 
ARTICLE V. MEETINGS 

5.1 The JCEDC Board will establish and publish a regular meeting schedule. 

5.2 All meetings of the JCEDC Board will be properly noticed according to law. 

5.3 Special meetings of the JCEDC Board may be called at the request of the Chairperson, Vice Chair 
or any two board members.  The place of the meeting will be at the principal  office of the 
JCEDC, unless otherwise agreed upon by the Chairperson and Vice Chair. 

5.4 A majority of the total-voting members of the JCEDC Board shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting. A member shall be present to vote. Present is defined 
to include remote attendance as authorized by the Jefferson County Board Rules. 

5.5 The chairperson, and in his/her absence, the vice-chairperson, and in their absence, any board 
member chosen by a majority of the members present, shall call the meeting of the JCEDC 
Board to order and shall act as chairperson of the meeting. 

5.6 JCEDC will hold at minimum one annual joint board meeting with ThriveED to collaborate and 
review goals and objectives of the consolidated strategic plan and plan of work. 

 

ARTICLE VI.  ANNUAL MEETING 

6.1 The Annual Meeting of the JCEDC Board shall be held in May of each year on a date, time and 
place to be determined by the JCEDC Board. 

6.2 At its annual meeting, the JCEDC Board shall elect a chairperson and vice-chairperson. 

6.3 The JCEDC Board shall establish the duties of the chairperson and vice-chairperson. 



ARTICLE VII. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 

The chairperson and vice-chairperson of JCEDC, the chairperson and vice-chairperson of ThriveED, and 
the Jefferson County Administrator (County Administrator) shall serve on the Executive Committee. 

 
ARTICLE VIII. STAFF 

8.1 Jefferson County shall employ all JCEDC staff. 

8.2 Day to day operational supervision of JCEDC staff shall rest with Jefferson County. 

8.3 Jefferson County Human Resource practices and policies shall be applicable in all respects to 
employment of staff, except the hiring procedure for the director. JCEDC staff will be supervised 
by the Executive Director and the Executive Director will be supervised by the County 
Administrator. The Executive Director will be considered a Department Head level position 
within the County’s organizational structure. The County Administrator will consult with the 
Executive Committee in development of the annual evaluation of the Executive Director. 

8.4 If there is a vacancy of the Executive Director, the County will advertise and recruit for the 
director’s position in consultation with the Executive Committee as to the best method for 
recruitment. Thereafter, the JCEDC Board will screen the applicants and select participants in the 
interview process with the Jefferson County Administrator. At the end of the interview process, 
the JCEDC Board will recommend up to five finalists. The Executive Committee shall conduct 
finalist interviews. Appointment of a finalist by the County Administrator shall be subject to 
County Board confirmation per Wis Statute 59.18 (2)(b). 

8.5 JCEDC staff will attend municipal meetings to provide updates and information upon request of 
the municipalities. The Executive Director will provide an annual report to the Jefferson County 
Board of Supervisors. The annual report will be made available to all municipalities. 

 
ARTICLE IX. FINANCES 

9.1 The JCEDC Board shall prepare an annual budget with the assistance of staff. Jefferson County’s 
policies and procedures shall apply for meals, lodging, mileage, travel and other reimbursable 
expenses. 

9.2 The JCEDC Board will present its proposed budget in a timely manner to all member 
municipalities and Jefferson County before it is adopted by the JCEDC Board. 

9.3 Funding for the fiscal years will be established as $1.50 per county resident payable from 
Jefferson County, plus $1.50 per municipal resident payable from each participating 
municipality. The population number used to calculate contributions will be collected 
through the Wisconsin Department of Administration. 

9.4 The JCEDC shall not be limited to public funding from its member municipalities and 
Jefferson County. The JCEDC Board may authorize staff to pursue additional revenue 
through program revenue, contracts for service, and public and/or private gifts and 
grants. 

9.5 Jefferson County shall act as the fiscal agent for the JCEDC. 

9.6 Each municipality and county shall be responsible in the proportion of its contribution to    the 



consortium as a whole for any other cost of the consortium not specifically set forth herein, 
including but not limited to employment costs incurred by Jefferson County as a result of 
unemployment compensation to staff upon termination of the consortium. 

 
9.7 All funds due from a municipality shall be paid to the County by a member municipality by 

January 31 of the year for which such funds are budgeted. The County shall hold all funds for 
the benefit of JCEDC in a separate account.  Unspent funds in said account shall not lapse to 
the general fund but shall be carried over to the next fiscal year or otherwise distributed as set 
forth herein. 

 
ARTICLE X. GENERAL POWERS AND TYPE OF 

SERVICES 

10.1 The JCEDC Board may recommend action to the County with regard to direction of staff, 
contracts or general program purposes. 

10.2 The JCEDC Board shall not borrow money or authorize the borrowing of any funds on behalf of 
the JCEDC. The JCEDC Board may, however, enter into contracts in the ordinary course of its 
business and in pursuit of its stated goals and purpose. Examples of its permitted contracting 
powers would be equipment leases or equipment purchases. Under no circumstance shall the 
JCEDC Board enter into contracts that cause it to exceed its annual budget. 

10.3 Under the policy oversight of the JCEDC Board, the staff of JCEDC will develop a plan of work 
that aligns with the strategic plan in the furtherance of community development and economic 
development. Staff will further accomplish this task by working on a regional basis with partners 
in all sectors, coordination with the state as required and with local municipalities based on their 
needs within the framework of the plan of work. 

 
ARTICLE XI. SEVERABILITY 

If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or any part of this agreement, including 
amendments, is declared to be unconstitutional or void, or if for any reason is declared to be invalid or 
of no effect, the remaining sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, phrases or parts thereof shall  be 
in no manner affected thereby, but shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
ARTICLE XII. AMENDMENTS 

All or any portion of this agreement may be amended by a resolution passed by the affirmative vote of 
at least 2/3 of the total JCEDC Board membership. 

 
ARTICLE XIII. DISSOLUTION & WITHDRAWAL 

13.1 Written notice of withdrawal shall be submitted a minimum of 6 months prior to the effective 
date of withdrawal. 

13.2 Any member withdrawing from the consortium is responsible for obligations incurred 
during the period it was a member. 

 
13.3 The consortium may be dissolved by an affirmative vote of at least two-third (2/3) of the 

member municipalities and two-third (2/3) of the Jefferson County board establishing a date 



of dissolution, which shall be at least one year after the date of the affirmative vote. 

13.4 In the event of dissolution, any assets remaining after payment of all obligations shall be 
distributed among existing members in proportion to their contributions, as determined by the 
JCEDC Board. In the event obligations exceed assets, members shall pay pro rata such sums as 
may be necessary to retire the obligation. 



 

Signed this day of  , 2022. 
 

 
City of Waterloo 

 
 
 

 
BY:    

 
 

 
 

(Print Name) 
 
 
 

 

Signed this day of  , 2022. 
 

 
Jefferson County Economic Development Consortium 

 
 
 

 
BY:    

 
 

 
 

(Print Name)  



Preferred meeting night: 3'd Tuesday of month at 6:00 pm

JANUARY

- evaluate CDA Progress Measures
- finalize pr¡or year Annual Report

FEBRUARY

- notify Mayor of member reappointment interest
- align/modify CDA Progress Measures as needed
- subm¡t Annual Report to City Council

MARCH

- not¡fy Mayor of member reappointment interest
- Push to closeout incomplete prior year items

APRIL

- Mayoral appointments
- Push to closeout incomplete prior year items

MAY
- CDA election of Chair and Vice Chair
- evaluate CDA Progress Measures

JUNE

- start future year budget submittal
- review of tax increment finance district progress

JULY

- review of tax increment finance district progress
- future year budget planning
- align CDA Progress Measures with budget planning
- reaffirm or jett¡son all active programs and projects

AUGUST

- future year budget submittal to Finance, lnsurance & Personnel Committee, including tax incremental finance funds

SEPTEMBER

- evaluate CDA Progress Measures

OCTOBER

- !trength, weaknesses opportunities & !hreats (SWOT) exercise

NOVEMBER

- commun¡ty outreach

DECEMBER

- community outreach
- review staff draft, Annual Report to City
- update calendar

Council

Waterloo Community Development Authority -- Annual Calendar

Page 1 of 1

HTTPS/MATERL0OWI.SHAREP0INT.COM/SITES/FILESHARËS/ÐATA/C0MMON/COMMUNITY development audìorlty/annual calendar/community development authority annual
calendar.docx
211112021 2:59 PM



info@non-mc.com 329 W 3rd St. Fox Lake, WI 53933 (920) 203-3859

October 18, 2022

Waterloo City Hall
Attn: CDA
136 North Monroe Street
Waterloo, WI 53594

Re: TID 5 Creation

Dear CDA:

Non-metro Connections is interested in submitting a proposal for TID 5 creation for the
City of Waterloo, and as such, is submitting the following for your consideration. Non-Metro
Connections plans to utilize Short Elliot Hendrickson, Inc. as a subconsultant for the process of
TID #5 creation.

1. Scope of Work

Creation of TID #5 Project Plan and Map.
In consultation with the Client, Consultant will prepare a project plan describing the boundary of Tax
Increment Financing District #5 (“TID #5”), anticipated projects and the identification of how those
projects will be implemented and financed. A TID boundary map and boundary description will
include parcel identification numbers as reflected on current assessment rolls and/or tax list of the
assessor for Jefferson County, Wisconsin. The Project Plan development shall include but not be
limited to the following tasks:

a. Preparation of a Project Plan process (task and timetable) based upon
confirmed meeting schedules as it related to Wisc. Stats. required approvals.

b.Preparation of the Project Plan to stimulate further economic development
through public investment in eligible capital costs and other expenditures to be
identified in the Project Plan.

c. Develop and prepare the required elements of the Project Plan, more specifically
inclusion of a financial analysis of eligible expenditures as well as new eligible
expenditures based upon redevelopment and economic opportunities presented
to the City Council for an identified expenditure period of the Project Plan.

d.Preparation eligible expenditure costs schedule TID cash flow (pro forma) to identify
ability to pay for costs anticipated from a Tax Increment District fund of the City.



e.Communications with City Council and the Plan Commission as necessary to complete
the Project Plan for submission and presentation to the Plan Commission for
consideration and approving resolution to the Common Council.

Project Plan Approval Process. Assist the Client with the preparation of the documentation and
resolutions necessary for Project Plan approvals, including but not limited to:

f. A written request to other taxing units (the “Overlapping Taxing Units”), requesting
that a representative serve on the Joint Review Board (the “JRB”). The Client will
be responsible for sending these written requests. The JRB shall be composed of a
representative from: (i) school district, (ii) technical college district the (iii) City,
and (iv) a member of the public.

g. Notice to property owners located within the TID. If the TID is a blighted or
rehabilitation/ conservation type classification, the affected properties and owners
will be identified. The City will be responsible for filing and mailing via first-class mail
notification letters at least 15-days prior to the scheduled public hearing.

h.Public notice for the Plan Commission Public Hearing. The Client will be responsible for
publishing and posting the official public notice. The first notice to be published 14
days prior to the public hearing, the second notice 7 days prior, in accordance with
Wisc. Stats.

i. Participation and presentation of the Project Plan and TID to the Plan
Commission prior to consideration of a resolution for approval to the City
Council.

j. Resolution of the City Plan Commission approving the Project Plan and the TID.

k. Participation and presentation of the Project Plan and TID to the City Council prior to
consideration of a resolution adopting the Project Plan and the TID.

l. Resolution of the City Council approving the Project Plan and the TID. If the
Resolution is approved, assist the Client with the filing of the approving
documentation to the JRB.

m. Assistance to the Client to convene a JRB meeting. Consultant will prepare a public
meeting notice for publication by the Client. The Client will be responsible for
distribution, publishing and posting of the public hearing notice.

n.Resolution of the JRB approving the documents filed by the City as it relates to the Project
Plan and the creation of a TID.

o.Wisc. Stats. forms as appropriate for filing: PE-605, PE-605T, PE-605ER or PE-605A, PE-606,
PE- 608, PE-601A, PE-619, PE-608M, PE-608MP and PE-615A, including communication
with the local and manufacturing assessors to ensure accurate current assessment
values.

Wisconsin Department of Revenue. Assist the Client with the preparation of documentation for
submission and filing with the Wisconsin Department of Revenue (the “DOR”) as it relates to
the creation of a TID.

p.Consultant will prepare the DOR application, as required by the State’s TID Application
Checklist, and submit in partnership with the City Clerk, to the DOR for base value



certification. The Client will provide the appropriate application fee to the DOR.

q.Consultant will assist the Client in responding to questions or directives from the DOR
based upon its review and certification of the base process.

r. Following the DOR’s certification letter provided to the City Clerk, the Consultant will
provide direction to the local or county assessor to identify parcels within the TID on the
most current tax list (assessment roll) and to the City Clerk for the identification on the
tax list.

2. Schedule

Consultant will start services promptly (10/21). Consultant estimates services will take
approximately 6 month to complete.

3. Payment

Payment will be requested via monthly invoice as services are performed.

Thank you for reviewing this proposal and your consideration.

Sincerely,

Everett Butzine



Education Session:

Tax Increment Financing
to Support Multi-family 

Development in Waterloo



2021 Jefferson County Housing Study



Jefferson County Single Family Median Sales Price

Year Median Home Price Increase from 
Previous Year

Total % Appreciation 
Since 2016

2016 $175,000

2017 $184,950 5.7% 5.7%

2018 $215,000 16.2% 22.9%

2019 $230,900 7.4% 31.9%

2020 $249,950 8.3% 42.8%

2021 $278,000 11.2% 58.9%
Source: MetroMLS; Summary Statistics for Entire MLS

Source: MetroMLS Monthly Local Market Report; September 2022



Jefferson County data | OEWS 2021 data

Occupation Average Wage

Management Occupations $109,420 

Business and Financial Operations Occupations $66,420 

Computer and Mathematical Occupations $69,080 

Architecture and Engineering Occupations $71,800 

Life, Physical, and Social Science Occupations $64,790 

Community and Social Service Occupations $52,320 

Legal Occupations $68,100 

Educational Instruction and Library Occupations $48,780 

Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports, and Media Occupations $55,630 

Healthcare Practitioners and Technical Occupations $87,780 

Healthcare Support Occupations $30,810 

Protective Service Occupations $54,450 

Food Preparation and Serving Related Occupations $25,660 

Building and Grounds Cleaning and Maintenance Occupations $31,930 

Personal Care and Service Occupations $30,180 

Sales and Related Occupations $39,910 

Office and Administrative Support Occupations $39,960 

Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Occupations $35,360 

Construction and Extraction Occupations $51,460 

Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Occupations $51,250 

Production Occupations $40,950 

Transportation and Material Moving Occupations $37,490 

Families making $93,000/ year –
can spend up to $2,325 before 
becoming house burdened

Scenario: Buying a $309,500 house

20% down: $61,900

Mortgage: $247,600

7.5% 30-yr fixed mortgage: 

$1,731 principal and interest

$513.77 taxes 

$75 insurance

$2,319.77



Missing Middle Housing



MAKING A CASE FOR MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
IN WATERLOO – Demographic Trends

2010 2020

Average household size 2.48 2.09

Households with 4+ people 18.4% 10.1%

Householder living alone 32.9%

Households with no children <18 67.2%



MAKING A CASE FOR MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
IN WATERLOO – Housing Trends

1-unit structures 64%

Number of Bedrooms
74% have 2-3 bedrooms

11.5% have 4+ bedrooms

Age of structure 60% of existing structures built before 1980

26% of existing structures built before 1940



Dempsey 
Property 
Proposed 
Development

• Duquaine Development –
requesting ~ $3,000,000 of TIF 
assistance





TID 4 – New residential development
• I have $32,500 of administration charged through the life of the 

TID. $65,000 for ED consultant and City Clerk divided in 
half. TID 4 share is $32,500

• There was a DOR correction on this TID as well.
• New residential development at 97% of construction costs, 

divided between 2023 and 2025 construction years.
• TID can close successfully, but if the developer is provided 60% 

of the increment the incentive of $3 million is not paid off by 
the closure date. Could extend the TID by 3 years, but this will 
still not pay the $3 million incentive in full.

• City’s portion of increment revenue would accumulate to about 
$1.4 by the end of the TID. This may not be enough to pay for 
improvements and the interest expense on borrowing to fund 
the projects.



What is Tax Increment Financing?

• Key acronyms:
• TIF → Tax Increment Financing (the tool)

• TID → Tax Increment District (boundary where the tool is used)

• One of the strongest economic development tools in the State of 
Wisconsin.

• Allows municipalities to capture incremental property tax revenue 
from growth in defined area and use it to benefit that area.



Source: Wisconsin Department of Revenue







TID 5 – New residential development
• I have administration to pay for the new project plan and 

then I charged $2,500 through the life of the TID.
• No other development is assumed and no potential City 

projects have been modeled.
• New residential development at 97% of construction 

costs, divided between 2023 and 2025 construction 
years.

• TID can close successfully, with the developer provided 
60% of the increment as incentive up to $3 
million. Based upon the assumptions, the TID could pay 
the developer off by 2041 and have funds on hand to 
construct improvements.

• The available fund balance (City’s portion of the 
increment revenue) that would need to pay for principal 
and interest on a loan to finance the projects would be 
approximately $2.6 million.



Proposal: Create TID 5 Overlay

TID 5 →Mixed-use 
• Max life: 20 years
• At least 50% of district must be:

• Industrial
• Commercial
• Residential

• Newly platted residential can only make up no more than 35% of district.

TID Overlay Basics
• Boundary of one TID that covers another existing TID’s boundaries.
• TID overlay district:

• “freezes” property value of TID area it covers
• TID overlay collects any new increment created within the district



The City of Lake Mill’s adopted “Smart Growth” 

Comprehensive Plan incorporates the adopted 
Northside Neighborhood Plan for development of a 
755-acre area north of I-94. 

The Plan provides for a mix of development types 

including:
• Commercial
• Mixed residential/commercial areas 

• Single- and multi-family residential 
development

The plan provides detailed recommendations on a 
mix of single- and multi- family residences to serve a 

variety of household sizes, types, and incomes and 
includes specific recommendations on design and 

quality standards to ensure residential and 
commercial character in keeping with the City’s small 
town character and ensure connectivity throughout 
the northside. 

Example: Lake Mills – Mixed-Use TID #7








	Insert from: "33B0.pdf"
	Slide Number  1
	Slide Number  2
	Slide Number  3
	Slide Number  4
	Slide Number  5
	Slide Number  6


